COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

Between

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 78 (FRASER-CASCADE)

And

THE CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE AND ALLIED WORKERS BARGAINING COUNCIL LOCAL UNIT 2423

July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICL	E 1 DEFINITIONS	7
1.01	Casual Employee	7
1.02	Probationary Employee	8
1.03	Regular Employee	
1.04	Part-Time Employee	8
1.05	School Term Employee	8
1.06	Continuous Employment	
1.07	Temporary Employee	
ARTICL	E 2 MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS	9
		_
	E 3 APPOINTMENTS AND TRANSFERS	
3.01	Job Postings	
3.02	Conditions Governing Selection and Appointment	
3.03	Union Notification	
3.04	Work Jurisdiction	
3.05	Job Security	10
∧ DTICI	E 4 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	10
4.01	Termination CF EMPLOTMENT	
4.02	Union Notification	
4.02	UIIUII NUUIICatiuii	11
ARTICL	E 5 CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT	11
5.01	Union Security	
5.02	Union Membership	
5.03	Dues Check-Off	
5.04	Monthly Remittance	
5.05	Medical Examination	
5.06	Employee's Duties	
5.07	Employee Agreement	
ARTICL	E 6 – SENIORITY	
6.01	Method of Calculation	
6.02	Seniority During Absence	
6.03	Exempt Staff Seniority	
6.04	Loss of Seniority	13
6.05	Seniority Lists	
6.06	Casual Employees	13
A DITTICIT	T. T. A.V. OFF AND DEGALL DEGGEDURES	4.5
	E 7 LAY-OFF AND RECALL PROCEDURES	
7.01	Layoff and Recall	
7.02	Notice of Lay-off	
7.03	Payment on Lay-off	
7.04	Right of Recall	
7.05	Benefits	
7.06	Severance Pay	
7.07	Equivalent Positions Geographical Areas	15
∆RTICI	E 8HOURS OF WORK	14
8.01	Part-time Schedules	
8.02	Day Shift	
8.03	Afternoon Shift	
8.04	Night Shift	
8.05	Notice of Hours of Work	
8.06	Call Back	
8.07	Rest Periods	
0.07	11006 1 611040	

8.08	Reporting to Work	16
8.09	Overtime	17
8.10	Time Off in Lieu of Overtime	17
8.11	Hours of Work Bus Drivers	17
8.12	Extra Shifts - Bus Drivers	18
8.13	Professional Development Days	18
ARTIC	LE 9 - REMUNERATION	18
9.01	Wages and Salaries:	
9.02	Regular Rates of Pay	
9.03	Wages/Signing of Agreement	
9.04	Assignment to Substitute	
9.05	Overtime Meal Allowance	
9.06	Employee Expenses	
ARTIC	LE 10 ANNUAL VACATIONS	20
10.01	Annual Vacation with Pay	20
10.02	Accumulation of Vacation	
10.03	Time of Year	
10.04	Application for Vacation	
10.05	Incapacitated While on Vacation	
ARTIC	LE 11 - GENERAL HOLIDAYS	21
11.01	Qualifications	21
11.02	Day off in Lieu	22
11.03	Unauthorized Absence	22
ARTIC	LE 12 LEAVE OF ABSENCE	22
12.01	Union Business	22
12.02	Health	23
12.03	Maternity/Parental/Adoption leave	23
12.04	Bereavement Leave	23
12.05	Compassionate Leave	24
12.06	Family Illness	24
12.07	Court Appearances	24
12.08	Other	24
12.09	Workshops/Seminars	24
ARTIC	LE 13. – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	
13.01	Medical Plan	
13.02	Superannuation and Retirement	
13.03	Group Life Insurance	
13.04	Sick Leave with Pay	
13.05	Dental Plan	
13.06	Clothing Allowance	
13.07	Long Term Disability	
13.08	Employee and Family Assistance Program	
13.09	Benefit Entitlement - Part-time Employee	28
	LE 14 GENERAL PROVISIONS	
14.01	Travel	
14.02	Hand Tools	
14.03	Bulletin Board	_
14.04	Picketing	
14.05	New Construction	29
	LE 15 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
15.01	Difference	29

15.02	Stages	29
15.03	Discipline of Employee	
15.04	Personnel File	30
ለ ₽ ፐ፤ር፤ ፤	E 16 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	3(
16.01	Definition	
16.01	Process of Introduction	
ARTICLI	E 17 DURATION OF AGREEMENT	31
17.01	Length	31
17.02	Notice/Strike/Lockout/Revision of Agreement	31
ARTICLI	E 18 REMUNERATION	32
18.01	Wages as per Schedule "A"	
18.01	Schedule "A"	
ARTICLI	E 19 CROSSING GUARDS/NOON-HOUR SUPERVISION	34
ARTICLI	E 20 HEALTH AND SAFETY	34
ARTICLI	E 21 HARASSMENT/SEXUAL HARASSMENT	34
21.01	General:	
21.02	Definitions:	
Lottore	of Understanding	25
	Lay-offs	
	·	
	Four (4) Hour Minimum	
	Maintenance Plan of the Pay Equity Plan	
	Extra week at Spring Break	
	New Article 6 - Seniority	
	Appendix "A" - BCPSEA – Framework for Settlement	
	2006 - 2010 Agreement	53

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 78 (FRASER-CASCADE) (Hereinafter referred to as the "Board")

AND

THE CONSTRUCTION, MAINTENANCE AND ALLIED WORKERS BARGAINING COUNCIL,
LOCAL UNIT 2423 representing those employees
who are affected by this agreement and
for whom the Union has been certified.
(Hereinafter referred to as the "Union")

WHEREAS it is the responsibility of both parties to this Agreement to promote the effective and efficient operation of this School District recognizing meanwhile the parties' responsibilities and obligations each to the other;

AND

WHEREAS both parties desire to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Board and the employees, they have provided herein for matters of mutual interest.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH that the parties agree each with the other as follows:

ARTICLE 1. - DEFINITIONS

1.01 Casual Employee

- (a) Casual employee shall mean an employee who:
 - (i) is employed on a day-to-day basis to temporarily augment the regular staff, or
 - (ii) is engaged to relieve a regular employee for a limited period, or
 - (iii) is engaged on a special project of limited duration.
- (b) A casual employee who has been employed continuously for a period of two (2) months shall become a probationary, regular or regular part-time employee.
- (c) If a casual employee obtains a permanent position then the accrued hours of work as a casual shall be included as seniority. For the purpose of calculating seniority only actual hours worked will be used. Casual hours used for this purpose, will be calculated from January 1, 2001.
- (d) A casual employee who has completed forty (40) working days of continuous service and has completed the qualifications to do the job, will advance to the regular rate of pay for that department (i.e.: Custodian). The Secretary-Treasurer, in consultation with the Union, will use reasonable judgment where an unavoidable absence interrupts this continuous service.

1.02 Probationary Employee

"Probationary" employee shall mean an employee serving a forty-five (45) working day trial period of continuous employment in a permanent position for appointment to the permanent staff as a regular employee provided that all or part of this period may be waived by mutual consent in any case where the employer has had the opportunity to observe the employee while on "casual" status in a similar position. A probationary employee shall receive a 30 day written report on his/her work progress from his/her immediate supervisor.

In the case of a transfer of a permanent employee to a like position, the probationary period will be waived.

In the case of a transfer of a permanent employee to a new position, the probationary period will be only thirty (30) days.

1.03 Regular Employee

"Regular" employee shall mean an employee who has successfully completed his or her probationary period.

1.04 Part-Time Employee

"Part-Time Regular" employee means an employee working on a regular basis less than the standard hours laid down in Article 8.

1.05 School Term Employee

"School Term Employee" means a regular employee who normally is required to work on, and receive payment for, school days only. Holiday pay is issued for the days of Spring and Christmas closures, in accordance with Article 10.01(b). Such employees may be required to work for one week after the termination of the school year and for one week prior to school opening in September; and they are deemed to be on a temporary lay-off for the unpaid period of the summer closure.

1.06 Continuous Employment

"Continuous Employment" shall mean employment as a probationary or regular employee of the Board commencing with the initial date of the qualifying period of the probationary employment and shall include all periods of temporary absence that do not result in termination.

1.07 Temporary Employee

Temporary employee shall mean an employee who is employed on a temporary basis to relieve a regular employee who is on an approved leave of a period of more than two (2) months (e.g. maternity leave, leave of absence or sick leave).

- (a) Temporary positions will be posted following procedure defined in Article 3
 Appointment and Transfers and the posting will include the date of expected return of the incumbent.
- (b) Regular employees who have been appointed to temporary positions will return to their former position at the end of the temporary appointment or upon the return of the incumbent.
- (c) New employees who have been appointed as a result of a temporary posting will cease employment with the Board at the end of the

appointment or on the return of the incumbent and not be subject to Article 7 - Lay-off and Recall Procedures the provisions of the collective agreement.

- (d) Should the incumbent not return for any reason the job will be posted in accordance with Article 3.01 Job Postings.
- (e) For the purpose of benefit eligibility, any temporary employee, meeting the eligibility requirements of Article 13.09, hired for a confirmed six (6) month period will be eligible for the benefits of a regular employee, after completing 45 days of services. If an employee continues in a temporary position for six (6) months or greater, the employee will be eligible for benefits while employed in that position.

ARTICLE 2. - MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS

The Management of the work force and of the methods of operating is vested exclusively in the Board, except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement and as may be subject to grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 3. - APPOINTMENTS AND TRANSFERS

3.01 Job Postings

When a regular position becomes vacant or a new position is created which will come within the bargaining unit, the Board shall notify the Union prior to posting of such vacancy or job, which shall be posted for a minimum of seven (7) calendar days on all bulletin boards. Internal applicants will be considered first. This will in no way restrict the Board from making temporary appointments. If no internal applicants meet the required knowledge, skills and ability to fulfill the position, external applicants will be considered.

When the Board creates a new position and there is doubt as to whether or not it falls within the scope of the bargaining unit, the matter will be discussed with the Union. If it is agreed that the position is a Union job, postings will take place as in the foregoing paragraph. Otherwise, the Board is free to advertise in any way it chooses.

When a new position is created which falls within the scope of the bargaining unit the matter will be referred to the JEC committee (refer to procedures in the Letter of Understanding – Maintenance Plan of the Pay Equity Plan). The posting will clearly indicate that the position is subject to termination should external funding be discontinued and that, in that event, any employee holding such a position will be subject to lay-off in accordance with Article 7.01.

The posting will include the classification and wage rate of the position, clearly define required knowledge, ability and skills, hours of work and a notation that internal applicants will be considered first. Applicants for the posted position shall be notified of the results within twenty (20) working days from the closing date of the posting. Any employee who has received a job through the Posting Procedure will not be eligible for any further posting within the same classification for a period of 120 calendar days, except by mutual agreement of the parties.

3.02 Conditions Governing Selection and Appointment

(a) Applications within the department concerned (clerical, maintenance, janitorial and special education support) having the required qualifications will receive first preference and qualified applicants from other departments second preference. In making transfers and promotions, the required knowledge, ability and skills for the position shall be the primary consideration; and where two or more applicants are

qualified to fill the position, seniority based on years of service with the Board shall be the determining factor.

- (b) In the event that there are no qualified applicants from within the bargaining unit interested in a vacancy, the Board may at its discretion transfer a present employee from another position after consultation with the Union and the employee. This type of transfer will only be done where necessary and provided it does not involve any loss of earnings. If the Board does not wish to transfer a present employee it may then hire a new employee.
- (c) All promotions and reclassification of regular employees shall be made on the basis of the first thirty calendar days being a trial period. If during the trial period the employee does not prove satisfactory then such an employee shall be returned to his or her former position without loss of seniority or salary.
- (d) New employees hired to fill permanent positions shall remain on a probationary basis for the first forty-five (45) working days of continuing employment (excluding the two month summer lay-off if applicable). They shall be subject to termination at any time during the period without recourse to the Grievance Procedure.
- (e) Within five (5) working days the Union shall be notified by the Board in writing of all appointments and transfers.
- (f) Sections (a) and (b) of this clause will not apply to First Nation Support workers funded by targeted funds. These positions will be filled by a selection process which may include members from within the bargaining unit and other applicants from outside the bargaining unit.

3.03 Union Notification

The employer agrees to notify in writing the union within 5 working days when any employee covered by this agreement is hired, promoted, demoted, transferred, laid off, recalled or is suspended or when his/her employment is terminated.

3.04 Work Jurisdiction

If any displacement of employees is anticipated as a result of decisions involving automation, or in general any major changes in method of operation, the Board agrees to discuss the matter with the Union prior to implementation. Any personnel required to maintain School District buildings shall be employees of the Board and must be, or must become members of the Union.

3.05 Job Security

No regular employee shall suffer loss of employment or a reduction in hours as a result of sub-contracting by the employer or the use of volunteers.

ARTICLE 4. - TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

4.01 Termination

Termination of an employee's employment with the Board will occur under the following conditions:

- (a) he/she is discharged for just cause,
- (b) he/she resigns or retires,
- (c) he/she has been laid off for a period of eighteen (18) months without recall,

- (d) he/she is absent from work for three (3) consecutive days without notifying his/her employer unless such notice was not reasonably possible.
- (e) he/she fails to return to work on recall from lay-off after due notice as outlined in Article 7.

4.02 Union Notification

In the case of regular employees, written notice of termination will be given by the Board to both the Union and the employee concerned. If the employee affected wishes the Board will provide the employee with a letter giving the reasons for termination.

ARTICLE 5. - CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

5.01 Union Security

The Board recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees affected by this agreement and for whom the Union has been certified pursuant to the British Columbia Labour Relations Board Certification, dated April 28, 2005. It being understood that the following employees are excluded for the application of this agreement:

- (a) Secretary-Treasurer
- (b) Manager Buildings, Grounds & Maintenance
- (c) Secretary to the Secretary-Treasurer
- (d) Secretary to the Superintendent of Schools

5.02 Union Membership

As a condition of continued employment, all employees except casuals, filling positions for which the Union has been certified shall become and remain members of the Union.

After the signing of this Agreement all new employees except casuals hired for positions for which the Union has been certified will from the first day of the month following thirty (30) calendar days continuous employment be deducted monthly an amount equal to the monthly Union dues, and will be required to become members of the Union at the completion of their probationary period.

5.03 Dues Check-Off

- (a) The Board agrees to deduct from the earnings of each employee in the bargaining unit, Union dues, fees and assessments legally levied, and in the amount communicated to the Board by the Union from time to time.
- (b) Probationary employees shall be liable for an amount equal to the monthly dues, but shall not be liable for fees and assessments until they become Union members.
- (c) Casuals will pay a permit fee for each day or part-day worked, subject to a maximum monthly fee equal to the monthly dues paid by a regular employee.
- (d) Initiation fees of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) will be deducted off the first full pay period once the member has accepted a permanent position and completed the forty five (45) day probationary period.

5.04 Monthly Remittance

Deductions made each month will be forwarded to the Union Secretary no later than the 15th day of the month following together with a list of employees which shall indicate the

amount of deductions in each case and provide the effective dates of appointments, terminations and lay-offs, etc.

5.05 Medical Examination

- (a) New employees may be required to provide the Board with a medical statement certifying that the employee is physically and mentally fit for work and free of infections or contagious disease. New employees shall bear the cost of required examinations. The Board reserves the right to require employees on staff to produce a certificate of medical fitness. In such cases, the Board will bear the cost of required examinations.
- (b) Employees requesting flu shots will be immunized with the Board covering the cost.

5.06 Employee's Duties

It shall be the duty of every employee to perform his/her assignments diligently, faithfully and to the best of his/her abilities and to keep the best interests of the Board foremost in the execution of his/her assigned task.

5.07 Employee Agreement

No employee shall be required or permitted to make any written or verbal agreement with the employer or his representative which may conflict with the terms of this Collective Agreement without the approval of the bargaining agent.

ARTICLE 6 - SENIORITY

Effective January 1, 2012 the date of hire to a regular posted position shall be used to establish seniority. Existing employees seniority shall be grandfathered as of the seniority earned effective December 31, 2011.

- 6.01 (a) Seniority retroactive to the initial date of employment shall be established for new employees following forty five (45) days of continuous service (refer to A.1.06) in a regular posted position.
 - (b) When two (2) or more employees have the same length of seniority they shall be listed by date of birth with the oldest employee first.

6.02 Seniority During Absence

If an employee is absent from work due to illness, maternity, or accident, seniority shall accrue.

6.03 Exempt Staff Seniority

- (a) If a union employee accepts a position excluded from the bargaining unit (See Article 5.01), he/she shall retain the seniority accrued to the date of commencement in the exempt position for a period of eighteen (18) months, but shall not accumulate seniority while outside the bargaining unit.
- (b) The employee will pay union dues in accordance with the terms of this agreement during the eighteen month (18) period.
- (c) An exempt employee with seniority in the Union shall be included in the seniority list required under Article 6.05 below; and that seniority will be applicable in case of job applications under Article 3.02 and in case of lay-offs under Article 7.01.

6.04 Loss of Seniority

An employee will lose his/her seniority on termination of employment as defined in Article 4.01.

6.05 Seniority Lists

The Board agrees to provide the Union with a seniority list before February 28 each year, listing the names of all regular employees in order of seniority as at December 31st of the preceding year.

6.06 Casual Employees

Casual employees will be considered for posted positions when they apply.

If a casual employee obtains a permanent position, Article 1.01 (c) will apply for the calculation of a seniority date.

ARTICLE 7. - LAY-OFF AND RECALL PROCEDURES

7.01 Layoff and Recall

- (a) (i) In the event of lay-offs due to a reduction in the working force, seniority of affected employees shall be the guiding factor when the knowledge, skills and ability to fill the position are equal. When seniority prevails the employee with the least seniority shall be the first to be laid off and the last to be re-hired.
 - (ii) An employee reduced in hours by fifteen (15) percent or more and/or is reclassified without choice shall be given the opportunity of displacing a junior employee in a similar or other classification provided his/her knowledge, skills and ability to fill the position are equal.
- (b) No new employees will be hired until laid-off personnel on the seniority list have had an opportunity to apply for available work for which they have the required knowledge, skills and abilities.
- (c) A laid-off employee from one department may displace a more junior employee from another department provided that he/she has the required knowledge, skills and ability to carry out the duties of that other department position.
- (d) A regular employee who is about to be laid-off shall be offered a position in any department that is being filled by a probationary, casual or temporary employee, providing that the regular employee has the required knowledge, skill and abilities to fill such a position.

7.02 Notice of Lay-off

Regular employees, who are to be laid off or terminated for reasons other than for cause, shall receive notice in accordance with the Employment Standards Act; but in any event, no less than sixty (60) calendar days.

The letter of notice shall contain the reason for lay-off or termination, details of recall rights, and availability of benefits and severance pay.

An employee may bump any employee in their department only with less seniority, provided the employee has the knowledge, skills and ability to perform the scope of work. If there are

no positions in their department to bump, then the employee may bump employees with less seniority in another department provided they have the knowledge, skills and ability to perform that scope of work.

An employee entitled to bump in accordance with this Article shall advise the Secretary-Treasurer of his/her intentions within five (5) days of such notice.

7.03 Payment on Lay-off

Whenever possible, an employee shall be entitled to receive on the day of lay-off all monies due to him/her including holiday pay.

7.04 Right of Recall

(a) When a position becomes available, the job will be posted in accordance with Article 3.01 Job Postings.

Employees on the lay-off/recall shall apply for jobs for which they have the required knowledge, ability and skill.

For employees on the lay-off/recall the Job Posting shall be in writing and will be sent by e-mail to the address supplied by the employee and followed up with a phone call if the e-mail bounces back. During the instructional breaks this will be followed up with a phone call to the employee to ensure receipt of the posting.

- (b) If an employee on lay-off recall is offered a position under Section 7.04(a) above they shall inform the Board whether or not the offer is accepted within five (5) working days of receipt of the offer. If the most senior employee declines the offer, the next most senior qualified employee shall be similarly offered the position and so on until all laid-off employees have been offered the position.
- (c) An employee who accepts a position in accordance with Section 7.04(a) above shall commence duties within ten (10) working days of acceptance or on the date on which the posting closes. The ten (10) days may be extended in extenuating circumstances by mutual agreement between the Board and the Union.
- (d) An employee's right to re-engagement under this section is forfeited:
 - (i) if the employee elects to receive severance pay under Section 7.06 below; or
 - (ii) if the employee elects to receive termination benefits under Section 13.04 below; or
 - (iii) if eighteen (18) months has elapsed from the day of lay-off or termination under this Article.
- (e) An employee on the recall list is responsible for keeping the Secretary-Treasurer notified of his/her current address and telephone number.
- (f) Upon recall an employee shall retain his/her former recall status even though the assignment may be for a specified term and/or for an amount of employment different from his/her recall status. This will permit an employee to accept casual, temporary or part-time employment without jeopardizing his/her right to recall otherwise provided for in this article.
- (g) An employee recalled pursuant to this section shall be entitled to the benefits as provided elsewhere in this agreement.

7.05 Benefits

(a) Where an employee is laid off or terminated under this Article, after completion of more than one (1) years service with the Employer, the Board will continue to maintain coverage, and pay its normal share of the premium, for a period of three
 (3) calendar months beyond the date of termination for the following benefit plans, provided that the employee makes appropriate arrangements with the Secretary-Treasurer to pay his/her share of the premiums;

B.C. Medical Plan Extended Health Benefits Dental Plan

(b) An employee who retains rights of re-engagement under Section 7.04 above and who is not otherwise employed shall be entitled, if otherwise eligible, to continue his or her participation for a further fifteen (15) months in the benefit plans listed in 7.05 (a) above by prepayment monthly of the full cost of the premiums. If an employee falls in arrears his/her right to participation is forfeited.

7.06 Severance Pay

- (a) An employee with one or more years of seniority who is laid off indefinitely under this Article, except one terminated for just cause, may elect to receive severance pay at any time during the eighteen (18) months following the date of lay-off or termination.
- (b) Severance pay shall be calculated at the rate of five (5) percent of the annual salary for each full year of service with the Board, to a maximum of two (2) years pay. Severance pay will be based on the employee's rate of pay at the time of lay-off.
- (c) An employee who receives severance pay under this section and is subsequently rehired shall retain such severance pay. However, for the purposes of Section 7.06 (b) above only, the calculations of years of service shall commence with the date of such re-hiring.
- (d) An employee laid off or terminated under this article may elect to receive severance pay under this section or termination benefits under Section 13.04, but not both.
- (e) No ten (10) or eleven (11) month employee temporarily laid off during school closures shall be entitled to severance pay under this Article.

7.07 Equivalent Positions Geographical Areas

For the purpose of this Article:

- (a) Ten (10), eleven (11) and twelve (12) month positions are deemed to be equivalent; and
- (b) The three geographical areas are:
 - (i) Boston Bar
 - (ii) Yale, Hope and Silver Creek
 - (iii) Agassiz-Harrison.
- (c) Regular employees who are laid off and are called in for work in their classification shall be paid the rate for that classification. Where they accept work in a different classification they shall be paid the rate as specified.

ARTICLE 8.-HOURS OF WORK

8.01 Part-time Schedules

Part-time schedules may be established where necessary but no split shifts, with the exception of school crossing guards/supervision assistants and bus drivers, will be scheduled. All hours of work will be scheduled within a day, afternoon or night shift as defined in this Article.

8.02 Day Shift

Day Shift: Any seven (7) hours, excluding meal breaks between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. In the case of Maintenance, Custodial, and the Transportation Department employees, eight (8) consecutive hours will apply.

8.03 Afternoon Shift

Afternoon Shift: Any eight (8) consecutive hours (including one-half hour meal break) between the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m.

8.04 Night Shift

(a) Night Shift: Seven and one-half (7 1/2) hours (including one-half hour meal break) between the hours of 8:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.

(b) Second Shift

Where the major portion of an employee's shift, other than bus drivers, occurs after fifteen hundred (1500) hours, employees shall be paid a shift differential of thirty-seven cents (.37) per hour for the entire shift worked.

8.05 Notice of Hours of Work

Notice of work schedules shall not be changed except upon 24 hours written notice. If 24 hours notice is not given all time worked outside the hours of schedule will be paid at the appropriate overtime rate.

8.06 Call Back

A call-back results when an employee has completed his/her regular day's work and is called back to work. In such instances the employee shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the applicable overtime rate. If an employee is requested to extend his or her shift prior to the end of their regular day's work such a request shall not constitute a call back.

8.07 Rest Periods

Full time employees shall be allowed two fifteen minute rest periods in each working day (one in each half of the work shift). Employees working less than full time shall receive one fifteen minute rest period for each four hours worked per day.

8.08 Reporting to Work

If an employee reports for work and no work is available (i.e. due to power failure) such employee shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours; in the event an employee commences work (and power fails) then is required to terminate a day's work, a minimum of four (4) hours shall be paid.

8.09 Overtime

Authorized overtime shall be paid in accordance with the following provisions:

(a) All hours worked in excess of the normal work day of seven (7) hours per day for clerical employees and eight (8) hours per day for custodial and maintenance employees shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2 T) for the first two (2) hours and thereafter double (2T) the employee's regular rate of pay.

The employer shall make every effort to offer hours worked in excess of the normal work day to a regular employee. The employer shall first offer overtime to the most senior employee who normally performs that work within that school. If the most senior employee should decline the offer, the next most senior employee shall be similarly offered the overtime.

- (b) All hours worked outside the employee's hours of work schedule and qualifying for overtime in accordance with the provisions of Article 8.05 shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half (1 1/2T) for the first two (2) hours and thereafter double (2T) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay.
- (c) Work performed on an employee's first day of rest (normally Saturday) shall be at double (2T) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay.
- (d) Work performed on an employee's second day of rest (normally Sunday) will be compensated at double (2T) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay.
- (e) Work performed on Statutory Holidays shall be compensated at double (2T) the employee's regular hourly rate of pay except that where statutory holidays are observed on alternate days, employees whose schedule requires them to work both the statutory holiday and the day observed as such shall be compensated at their regular hourly rate of pay on the statutory and at double (2T) their regular hourly rate of pay on the alternate day observed as such.
- (e) Except as provided in (b), (c) and (d) above, employees working less than a seven (7) hour day for clerical employees and less than an eight (8) hour day for other than clerical employees, shall not be entitled to the overtime provisions of the Article until they have worked seven (7) or eight (8) hours in a day respectively.

8.10 Time Off in Lieu of Overtime

Instead of cash payment for overtime, an employee may choose to receive time off at the appropriate overtime rate at a time selected by the employee and the Employer. Time off in lieu of overtime not taken during the year shall be paid out at the appropriate rate on final payroll in each calendar year.

8.11 Hours of Work Bus Drivers

The hours of work of the regular full-time bus driver employees shall be eight (8) hours per day, Monday through Friday. There shall be a guaranteed minimum of four (4) hours pay per day which shall be designated by the Employer and shall be divided into two (2) hours pay for the regular morning shift, and two (2) hours pay for the regular afternoon shift. In addition, there shall be a guaranteed minimum of two and one half (2 1/2) hours pay per week designated by the Employer for bus cleaning purposes. This clause will not result in inequitable distribution of work for the bus drivers.

For the purposes of calculating provisions requiring a daily equivalent, such as sick leave entitlements and all general holidays, the guaranteed daily equivalent shall be deemed to be four and one half $(4\ 1/2)$ hours pay per day. Vacation pay shall be paid in accordance with Article 10.

8.12 Extra Shifts - Bus Drivers

i) Any extra shift, where more than one-half (1/2) hour break exists between the regular shift and the extra shift or between two (2) extra shifts, shall be paid at a minimum of 2 hours. Any extra shift where one-half (1/2) hour or less break exists between two (2) extra shifts, shall be paid as continuous time based on the two (2) hour minimum.

Where there is one-half (1/2) hour or less break between a regular shift and an extra shift, the total time worked shall be considered an extension of the regular shift and paid as continuous time.

Where an extra shift replaces a regular morning or afternoon shift, the bus driver shall be paid actual hours worked for that shift provided a guaranteed minimum two (2) hours pay is maintained.

Where an extra shift replaces both the morning and afternoon regular shifts, the bus driver shall be paid actual hours worked provided a guaranteed minimum four (4) hours pay for the day is maintained.

- ii) All time worked, inclusive of waiting time, in excess of eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week shall be paid at one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate.
- iii) A four (4) hour minimum guarantee shall be paid for Saturday and Sunday trips.
- iv) Saturday and Sunday shifts shall be paid at straight time for eight (8) hours per day and one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular rate for any time thereafter.
- v) Waiting time, where required, shall be paid at the appropriate rate but shall not include lay-over's such as hotels or residences.
- vi) Regular bus drivers shall be given first priority to accept any extra shifts.
- vii) Meal allowance will be in accordance with the current Board policy.
- viii) Accommodation: The Employer shall pay the cost of accommodation and will be responsible for making appropriate reservations.

8.13 Professional Development Days

Employees required by the Secretary-Treasurer to attend District Professional Development event shall be paid for the time in attendance at their regular hourly rate of pay. All other employees (except for Noon-hour supervisors, crossing guards and lunch program employees) will be paid for their normally scheduled hours on Pro-D days. Employees can work those normally scheduled hours by working at the school or attending a Pro-D session of their choice.

ARTICLE 9 - REMUNERATION

9.01 Wages and Salaries:

All employees shall be paid every second Friday. All payments will be made by direct deposit to each employee's bank account. A statement will be provided each pay day detailing the gross pay and deductions there from: For the purpose of calculating bi-weekly remuneration:

- (a) Eight (8) hours per day shall be computed at 80 hours multiplied by the hourly rate.
- (b) Seven and one-half (7 1/2) hours per day shall be computed at 75 hours multiplied by the hourly rate.
- (c) Seven (7) hours per day shall be computed at 70 hours multiplied by the hourly rate.

9.02 Regular Rates of Pay

Regular rates of pay for categories covered by this Agreement shall be as provided for in Schedule "A" Wages and Salaries, which follows and forms part of this Agreement. This Schedule shall not bind the Board to create or fill any of the classifications set out therein. Incremental periods when applicable will date from the initial date of continuous employment.

9.03 Rate of Pay for Unqualified Special Education Assistants

There is a recognition that on occasion there may be a shortage of skilled, qualified Special Education Assistants and that personnel are still required to ensure the health and safety of special education students.

In such instances, the District may hire unqualified staff to fill in on a <u>casual basis</u>. The Board encourages unqualified staff to work toward qualifications in a timely manner if the person wishes to work as a Special Education Assistant.

- a) The following will lay out how such personnel will be deployed:
 - Only in the event when qualified staff is not available will unqualified Special Education Assistants be employed.
 - Unqualified Special Education Assistants will not be eligible to fill regular posted positions.
 - Unqualified Special Education Assistants will not convert to regular status by virtue of time worked: (Article 1.01(b) does not apply to unqualified Special Education Assistants).
- b) The two (2) pay categories for unqualified Special Education Assistants are:
- Unqualified Special Education Assistants not working toward certification: Currently \$17.85/hour
- Unqualified Special Education Assistant working toward certification: Currently \$19.85/hour

In order to be considered to be "working toward certification", the employee must show proof of registration in a program approved by the Board. In addition, the onus is on the employee to provide proof of completion of courses on a regular basis and updates every four months (September 1, January 1, and May 1) as to status in order to maintain their category placement as "working toward certification". Documentation will either be transcripts of course completion or a letter stating completion date of next course.

If no documentation is received every four months, the rate will revert to the lesser rate until further documentation is received. Retro-pay will not be paid in the event that documentation is late.

Staff will be given three years to complete the program, at their own expense. In certain circumstances, by mutual agreement of the Secretary-Treasurer and the union, extensions may be granted upon receipt by the Secretary-Treasurer, of a written explanation for the reason and the time required.

At the end of three years, should an employee not be qualified, they will revert to the status of Unqualified and not working toward certification until they become fully certified.

9.04 Wages/Signing of Agreement

- (a) No employee shall suffer a loss of wages because of the signing of this Agreement.
- (b) The implementation of negotiated increases shall be paid no later than the third pay period from the date of ratification, unless an extension is otherwise mutually agreed upon.

9.05 Assignment to Substitute

- (a) If an employee is assigned to substitute on a job, or to perform the duties of a position in a higher classification, he or she shall receive the rate of pay for the higher classification during the period of such assignment.
- (b) Where the General Foreman is away from work a designated employee in the maintenance department shall receive his/her wage effective from the first day of each absence. This shall apply in both geographic regions.

9.06 Overtime Meal Allowance

Unless the Employer has given at least 24 hours notice of the need to work overtime, or unless the Employer has made time available for the employee to obtain a meal during the overtime period, an employee required to work more than two (2) hours overtime in any day shall be paid a meal allowance in accordance with the current Board policy

9.07 Employee Expenses

Employees who incur expenses with prior approval in carrying out their authorized duties will be reimbursed for expenses in accordance with Board policy.

ARTICLE 10. - ANNUAL VACATIONS

10.01 Annual Vacation with Pay

Employees covered by this agreement shall receive an annual vacation on the following basis:

- (a) For the purpose of this section, calendar year shall be the period January 1 to December 31
- (b) Regular employees will receive vacation with pay in accordance with the following schedule:

Calendar Years of Service as at December 31 of	Working Days Vacation with Pay	
Less than one (1) year	One (1) day for each month of service -Maximum 10 days	
One (1) year	10 days (4%)	
Two (2) to Five (5)	15 days (6%)	
Six (6) to Twelve (12)	20 days (8%)	
Thirteen (13) to Twenty-three (23)	25 days (10%)	
Twenty-four (24) to Twenty-eight (28)	30 days (12%)	
Twenty-nine (29) years or more	35 days (14%)	

- (c) All employees leaving the service of the Board shall receive holiday pay at the appropriate percentage of their gross earnings for the calendar year in which they leave the service of the Board, applicable to their years of continuous service, less any holiday pay received under Section 7.03.
- (d) All casual employees shall receive holiday pay on the basis of 4% of their gross earnings.
- (e) All employees will receive two (2) days holiday per year in addition to those outlined in Section (a). Upon written request to the Secretary-Treasurer the two (2) days of flexible holiday time will be granted to an employee to use as the employee sees fit. An employee may choose to use the two (2) flexible holidays for the purposes of extending his/her regularly scheduled holidays.
- (f) School term employees shall receive vacation in accordance with Section (b) with payment made for Spring Break (last pay) and the balance on the last pay in December. Payment in December shall be calculated by using the number of days rather than percentage of salary. Such employees may be required to work for one week after the termination of the school year and for one week prior to school opening in September; and they are deemed to be on a temporary lay-off for the unpaid period of the summer school closure.

10.02 Accumulation of Vacation

Vacation time shall not be accumulative from year to year, except in special circumstances with the prior approval of the Secretary-Treasurer.

10.03 Time of Year

Whenever possible the Board shall permit regular employees to take their annual vacation during the period of the school summer holiday. Full-time employees shall be entitled to take their holidays either in one unbroken portion or segments of five (5) consecutive days. The latter shall be subject to Secretary-Treasurers' approval.

10.04 Application for Vacation

On an annual basis employees shall make application for vacation to their Supervisor and require the approval by the Secretary-Treasurer. The application must be submitted in writing at least one month before the vacation is to take place. In the event of transfer to another position the employee's vacation period will be subject to review.

10.05 Incapacitated While on Vacation

Where an employee commences vacation and becomes incapacitated through illness or injury, the period of illness or injury will be charged as paid sick leave rather than vacation provided that:

- (a) the period of incapacity persists for at least three (3) normal working days and;
- (b) proof of incapacity is provided.

ARTICLE 11 - GENERAL HOLIDAYS

11.01 Qualifications

(a) (i) Each employee who has received remuneration for at least fifteen (15) days in the thirty (30) day period immediately prior to the General Holiday, shall receive at the time of the General Holiday one (1) days pay at the

employee's regular rate as holiday pay for each of the following holidays or days observed in lieu thereof:

New Year's Day British Columbia Day

B.C. Family Day
Good Friday
Easter Monday
Victoria Day
Canada Day
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

and any other General Holiday proclaimed by the Provincial or Federal Governments.

- (ii) Where a 10 month employee works the four (4) or more working days prior to Labour Day they shall receive payment for the General Holiday.
- (b) Holidays on Regular School Days: Should the schools be required to be in session on any General Holiday, employees required to work on such a holiday will be granted an alternate day off in lieu of the General Holiday worked. The alternate day off will be taken at a mutually acceptable time, but not later than the conclusion of the employee's next annual vacation.

11.02 Day off in Lieu

When any of the above holidays falls on a normal day of rest, the parties may agree to an alternate day in lieu. If an alternate day is not declared employees shall receive a day off in lieu of the holiday at their regular rate of pay, such day to be determined by mutual agreement between employee and his supervisor but not later than the conclusion of the employee's next annual vacation.

11.03 Unauthorized Absence

In the case of unauthorized absence on the last regular scheduled shift before a general holiday or the first regular scheduled shift after a general holiday, entitlement to the provisions of the Article will be forfeited.

ARTICLE 12. - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

12.01 Union Business

- (a) Negotiations One (1) employee from each department not exceeding four (4) in total, being members of the bargaining committee of the Union shall be granted leave with pay where it is mutually agreed to carry on negotiations with the Employer during an employee's regular working hours.
- (b) Grievance Proceedings The shop steward and employee(s) concerned shall be allowed leave of absence with pay for the purpose of discussions in accordance with the grievance procedure. For discussions at Stage 3 up to three (3) local representatives of the Union shall be granted leave of absence with pay where meetings are required to be held with the Employer during regular working hours. Where Union business representatives attend such meetings paid leaves are reduced accordingly.
- (c) Union Conventions and Seminars Upon written request from the Union the Board will grant leave of absence for attendance at conventions and/or seminars to not

more than two (2) employees at any one time. It being understood that the Board will bill the Union for the cost of wages of such employee(s), and that the total absence allowed for this purpose shall not exceed twenty (20) man days in any one year.

- (d) General The Board recognizes the Incumbent President of the Union or his/her appointee as the Senior Shop Steward and spokesperson for the Union with the Board on Union-Management matters. Reasonable time for the discussion of Union-Management matters will be allowed by the Board.
- (e Any absence under this Article shall be subject to advance notification and approval by the Secretary-Treasurer, wherever possible. Such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

12.02 Health

Sick leave will only be granted because of illness or medical reasons other than maternity. Employees are to notify their supervisor as soon as possible if they are absent from duty because of illness or medical reasons and must give reasonable notice of their anticipated return to work.

An employee may be required to provide a medical certificate to establish the reasons for his absence or to verify his or her fitness to undertake normal duties.

Sick leave with pay will be granted up to the limit of the employee's unused sick leave accumulation.

Notwithstanding the foregoing sections, the employer may grant further periods of sick leave in special circumstances for employees with five (5) or more years service. Such periods shall not normally exceed eighteen (18) working days and shall be recovered by the employer as the employee earns additional credits and, moreover, if not repaid, shall be deducted from wages if or when the employee loses status as an employee for any reason.

12.03 Maternity/Parental/Adoption leave

- (a) Maternity/Parental/Adoption Leave without pay shall be granted in accordance with the Employment Standards Act.
- (b) Health and welfare benefits shall be continued provided the employees pay their share of the premiums. Vacation pay shall be pro-rated in accordance with the percentages provided all regular employees in Article 10.01 (b). Sick leave shall be pro-rated in accordance with hours worked as provided to all regular employees in Article 13.04 (a) and Article 13.09.

12.04 Bereavement Leave

- (a) Regular and Probationary employees shall be granted up to four (4) days with pay in the event of a death in their family, (parent, parent-in-law, grandparent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild, spouse, ward, sibling, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, aunt and uncle, or common-law spouse) to attend the funeral, and/or attend to the deceased affairs.
- (b) In special circumstances (e.g. unusual length of travel time) the Secretary Treasurer may grant up to two (2) additional days.
- (c) Up to one (1) day will be granted without loss of pay to attend a funeral as pall bearer or mourner at the funeral of a relative other than immediate family or of a close friend provided such employee notifies his/her supervisor or the Department Head in advance.

12.05 Compassionate Leave

Regular and Probationary employees shall be granted up to three (3) days compassionate leave in the event of a serious illness or other traumatic occurrence affecting the immediate family (e.g. father, mother, husband, wife, child, legal guardian and common-law spouse). Serious illness in the family shall be defined as an illness which a physician considers sufficient to require the employee's absence from work.

12.06 Family Illness

In case of illness when no one at home other than the Employee can provide for the needs of an immediate member of his/her family, the employee shall be entitled, after notifying his/her supervisor, to use his/her accumulated sick leave a maximum of three (3) days per year for this purpose. Leave provided under this clause is not also available under clause 12.05.

12.07 Court Appearances

- (a) If an employee is subpoenaed to appear in court as a witness or for jury duty, leave of absence with pay will be granted.
- (b) The employee will receive the regular rate of pay for the leave of absence.
- (c) All monies received for service as a subpoenaed witness or for jury duty shall be turned over to the Board.
- (d) Employees must present proof of service and the amount of pay received.
- (e) Leave will be granted where an employee personally initiates court actions not related to his/her position. In such cases unpaid leave may be granted instead of paid leave.

12.08 Other

The Board may grant leave of absence without pay to any employee requesting such leave for good and sufficient cause. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied. The Board shall notify the applicant of its decision and in the event the Board denies the request, the Board shall notify the applicant of the reason for its decision within five (5) working days. If leave is granted, depending on the years of service with the District, the Applicant shall not exceed the following:

Two (2) years or less	up to one (1) month
Two (2) years to five (5)	up to six (6) months
Five (5) years plus	up to one (1) year

An employee on leave may choose to continue his or her participation in benefit plans during the period of leave, by making appropriate arrangements with the Secretary-Treasurer provided that the following conditions are met:

- (a) The contract with the carrier will allow coverage while on leave of absence.
- (b) That the employee prepays monthly, the full cost of premiums.

12.09 Workshops/Seminars

Approval may be granted for employees to attend workshops, seminars, etc. relating to the employee's duties, which appear to be of benefit to the employee and the School District. Lost work time will be paid at the normal pay rates and expenses paid in accordance with

Board policy. Applications are to be forwarded to the Secretary-Treasurer, through the immediate supervisor.

ARTICLE 13. - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

13.01 Medical Plan

- (a) Regular employees and eligible members of their immediate family may be enrolled in the Medical Services Plan of B.C. Premiums will be borne entirely by the Board, with the exception of eye care, which is borne solely by the employee.
- (b) An extended health benefit plan is to be maintained, to include the eyeglasses and hearing aid option. Premiums will be borne entirely by the Board.

13.02 Superannuation and Retirement

- (a) All regular employees who have completed their probationary period shall be required to participate in the Superannuation Plan.
- (b) All regular employees shall be covered by the provisions of the Pension (Municipal)

13.03 Group Life Insurance

The Board will arrange for a group life insurance plan, which offers coverage for Support Staff employees. The life insurance plan structure will not be changed without mutual agreement of the parties. The premium will be shared 70/30 by the Board and the employee respectively.

The plan is voluntary for all eligible regular employees on staff as at December 31, 1982, and compulsory for all employees hired after that date. The continued provision of this benefit is subject to the continued participation of the required percentage of employees.

13.04 Sick Leave with Pay

(a) Subject to Section 12.02 of this agreement, all regular employees shall be entitled to sick leave accumulation at the rate of one and one-half (1 1/2) days for every calendar month of service during which pay was earned retroactive to the initial month of the qualifying period of probationary employment. Sick leave with pay will be deducted from the employee's sick leave accumulation. An employee shall be entitled to accrue all unused sick leave to a maximum of two hundred and twenty-five (225) days for his/her future benefit.

A new employee may be advanced up to ten (10) days of sick leave during his/her first twelve (12) months of service provided that:

- (i) No more than eighteen (18) days of paid sick leave are taken in the first twelve (12) months, and
- (ii) The pay for any sick leave days over entitlement is refunded at the end of the twelve (12) months.
- (b) The Board shall include on the employee's payroll statement once every three (3) months, a current status of accumulated sick leave.
- (c) Employees with accumulated sick leave at time of signing of the agreement will retain such credit and further credit will be accrued as set out above.

- (d) Employees with accumulated sick leave to their credit shall transfer or cause to be transferred to the Board, any time loss compensation payable to them by the Workers' Compensation Board. And upon so doing will receive full pay up to the value of the accumulated sick leave pay entitlement. In such cases there will be a deduction from their accumulated sick leave of the percentage of which the Workers' Compensation Board does not recompense the Board. If there is no credit of sick leave, employees will retain their Workers' Compensation Board cheques.
- (e) Sick leave credits will not be accrued if an employee is on leave of absence without pay as outlined above for a period equal to one complete calendar month.
- (f) Any savings that occur from the Employment Insurance Premiums, due to employee benefits, will be applied to the employer's share of the cost of the employee benefits.
- (g) (i) Any employee having sick leave to his/her credit at the time of termination of employment or retirement shall receive a salary grant equal to one-half (1/2) of such credit in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Continuous Service	Maximum Sick Days	Amount of Grant
5 years (60 months)	90 days	45 days
6 years	108 days	54 days
7 years	126 days	63 days
8 years	144 days	72 days
9 years	162 days	81 days
10 years	180 days	90 days

(ii) Any employee having sick leave to his/her credit at the time of termination of employment or retirement shall receive a salary grant equal to one-half (1/2) of such credit in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Continuous Service	Maximum Sick Days	Amount of Grant
5 years (50 months)	75 days	37.5 days
6 years	90 days	45.0 days
7 years	105 days	52.5 days
8 years	120 days	60.0 days
9 years	135 days	67.5 days
10 years	150 days	75.0 days

The amount of the grant shall be based upon the current rate of pay at the time of termination of employment. In the event of death any such entitlement will be paid to the beneficiary of the deceased.

(h) In this section one day means a day measured in the number of hours normally worked. Thus, an employee working four (4) hours a day accumulates one and one-half four (4) hour days a month [i.e. six (6) hours]. If an employee's regular hours of

work change his/her accumulated sick leave is recalculated by dividing the number of hours accumulated by the number of hours per day worked in the new position. For example, if an employee regularly works four (4) hours per day for a year, he/she will have accumulated eighteen (18) days each of four hours duration (i.e. $18 \times 4 = 72$ hours). If he/she changes to an eight (8) hour a day position, his/her number of accumulated days changes to nine (i.e. 72 hours divided by 8 = 9).

13.05 Dental Plan

Regular employees and their spouses and eligible members of their families may be enrolled in the group dental plan. Premiums are to be borne 70/30 by the Board and the employee respectively.

13.06 Clothing Allowance

All employees will receive a \$105.00 per year clothing allowance, payable at the start of each year except employees mandated by the Workers' Compensation Board to wear safety boots or Bus Drivers.

If employment is terminated for any reason during the year, the pro-rated portion will be deducted from the employee's final pay cheque.

A new employee starting during the year will have this allowance pro-rated.

In addition, maintenance employees will continue to be supplied with coveralls.

Those employees mandated by the Workers' Compensation Board to wear safety boots shall have the option to receive; upon permanent hire one (1) pair of safety footwear and have them replaced as required to a maximum of one (1) pair per year (maximum cost \$200.00); or be paid the \$105.00 per year as noted above, but not both. Part-time employees will have the boots replaced on a prorate basis, i.e. a half (1/2) time employee will have his/her boots replaced to a maximum of one (1) pair per two (2) years.

Bus drivers shall be required, as a condition of employment, to wear uniforms as provided by the Employer, at the Employer's cost, while performing bus driver duties and shall be extended provision for cleaning. The Employer shall provide bus drivers with a new uniform every two (2) years. The uniform shall consist of two (2) pair of pants, two (2) shirts, and one (1) jacket. One (1) winter jacket will be provided as required but not more than every three (3) years.

13.07 Long Term Disability

- (a) The employer agrees to provide a payroll deduction for an employee paid Long Term Disability Plan. The plan will be compulsory for all regular employees.
- (b) When an employee has depleted all sick leave or has completed the waiting period and been approved for payment under the Long Term Disability Plan, he/she shall be covered by benefits in the following manner:
 - (i) The Board will continue to maintain coverage, and pay its normal share of premiums, for a period of three (3) months provided that the employee makes arrangements with the Secretary-Treasurer to pay his/her share of premiums.
 - (ii) Following the above three (3) month period an employee may choose to continue his/her participation in benefit plans, by making appropriate arrangements with the Secretary-Treasurer to prepay monthly, the full cost of premiums.

13.08 Employee and Family Assistance Program

Regular employees shall be covered under an Employer funded employee and family assistance program.

13.09 Benefit Entitlement - Part-time Employee

Regular employees working less than full-time shall be entitled to vacation pay, general holiday pay, superannuation, and paid sick-leave proportionate to their regularly scheduled hours actually worked.

The other benefits provided under this Article shall be available to regular part-time employees working fifteen (15) hours per week or more. Employees who have benefit coverage at date of ratification will continue to be covered if their hours are reduced by the Board below fifteen (15) hours per week.

ARTICLE 14. - GENERAL PROVISIONS

14.01 Travel

- (a) An employee who is requested by the Employer to use his/her vehicle for School Board purposes and consents to such use will be reimbursed at the current rate established in Board Policy. All mileage must be certified by the employee's immediate superior, on the form provided.
- (b) Employees required by the Board to use their vehicle for approved Board business in excess of ICBC requirements per year, and not otherwise covered by the Board, shall be reimbursed the difference in insurance costs from Class 2 (to and from work) to Class 7 (business use) to a maximum of seventy-five (75) dollars upon submission of proof of coverage.
- (c) Employees shall not be expected to use their cars for the purpose of transporting School District materials or equipment unless it is or has been a part of the normal work requirement.

14.02 Hand Tools

The Board agrees that only trades people may be required to supply hand tools. Such tools and tool box may be stored on school property in a place approved by the supervisor provided a list of such tools is supplied if requested.

The Board further agrees to recompense such tradesperson for any loss due to breakage, fire or theft while being used on behalf of the Board while in approved storage on Board property and provided that replacement for loss due to breakage shall be subject to approval of the supervisor concerned.

14.03 Bulletin Board

The Board shall make available Bulletin Boards at all places of employment for the posting of Job Vacancies and Union Notices.

14.04 Picketing

Should picket lines be established affecting any premises of the Board, it is agreed that members of the Union will not be requested or expected to cross such lines except to perform duties necessary to ensure the security of property and safety of the pupils. Failure

or refusal of a member to cross such lines, except for the exceptions cited above, will not constitute grounds for disciplinary or discriminatory action by the Board.

14.05 New Construction

When the Board builds new schools and new additions to schools with its own forces, workers so employed shall be paid in accordance with the appropriate building trades agreement. Such workers will be subject to payment of dues and fees established by Local Union 2423.

ARTICLE 15 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

15.01 Difference

Any difference arising between the parties as to the interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of the agreement, including any difference arising over the disciplining or dismissal of an employee, and including the question as to whether a matter is arbitral shall be finally and conclusively resolved without stoppage of work in the following manner:

15.02 Stages

Stage 1: The Shop Steward, with the employee, shall first discuss the matter with the departmental head within five (5) working days of the alleged grievance first arising. If the matter is not resolved within five (5) working days, then:

Stage 2: Within three (3) working days the matter shall be submitted in writing to, and discussed with, the Secretary-Treasurer. Should the matter not be resolved at this stage within five (5) working days, then:

Stage 3: The matter shall be discussed within five (5) working days between a grievance committee of the Board consisting of at least three (3) representatives of the Board, including at least one (1) trustee, and a grievance committee of the Union consisting of at least three (3) representatives of the Union. Should the matter not be resolved within ten (10) working days, then:

Stage 4: The matter shall be referred to an Arbitrator within twenty (20) working days of decision at Stage 3. Both parties will attempt to come to agreement on selecting the Arbitrator. In the event the parties are unable to agree on the selection of an Arbitrator within five (5) days, the Minister of Labour of the Province of British Columbia shall be asked to appoint an Arbitrator.

The Arbitrator's decision shall be final and binding upon the Board, the Union and employee(s) concerned. Each party shall pay one-half (1/2) of the expenses of the Arbitrator.

Stage 5: Should the Arbitrator find that an employee has been disciplined or dismissed for other than cause, the Arbitrator may direct the Board to reinstate the employee and pay the employee a sum equal to the wages or salary lost by such disciplining or discharge, or such lesser sum as in the opinion of the Arbitrator is fair and reasonable. Provided always that any order the Arbitrator may make is made with due regard to the terms of the Agreement, and that any order relating to the lost wages shall be less any wages or salary earned by an employee during a period of discipline or dismissal.

Mutual Consent: Wherever a stipulated time limit is mentioned in this Article the said time limit may be extended by mutual consent of both parties.

15.03 Discipline of Employee

An employee may be dismissed or disciplined for just cause. Where a supervisor intends to interview an employee for Disciplinary Purposes, the supervisor shall notify the Steward or his/her designate in advance, who shall be present at the interview. Such interviews shall be conducted during paid time for the employee. All disciplinary letters will come only from the Secretary-Treasurer.

Employees are entitled to receive a written report of all accusations or complaints pertaining to their employment, or behaviour when such accusations or complaints result in disciplinary action, or have to be used as evidence at any subsequent time.

15.04 Personnel File

Employees shall have the right to access and review their personnel file. After receiving a request from an employee to view his/her personnel file, the Secretary-Treasurer shall grant access to that employee's file at a mutually acceptable time. An appropriate Employer official shall be present when an employee reviews his/her file, and the employee may be accompanied by an individual or Union representative of his/her choosing. The employee shall have the right to respond, in writing, to any document contained therein; such reply to become part of their permanent record.

ARTICLE 16. - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

16.01 Definition

For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "Technological Change" means:

- (a) the introduction by an employer into his/her work, undertaking or business of equipment or material of a different nature or kind than that previously used by the employer in that work, undertaking or business, or
- (b) a change in the manner, method or procedure in which the employer carries on his/her work, undertaking or business that is related to the introduction of that equipment or material,

but "technological change" does not include normal layoffs resulting from a decrease in the amount of work to be done.

16.02 Process of Introduction

The process to be followed where the Board intends to introduce technological change which affects the terms and conditions or security of employment of a significant number of members of the Union shall be:

(a) Notice and Discussion

When it is determined that the introduction of a technological change is under consideration or is to be introduced, the Board shall notify the Union in writing. Such notice shall be given at least ninety (90) days before the date on which the Board proposes to introduce the technological change. Once such notice is given, the Board agrees to discuss the matter with the Union.

(b) Information to be provided.

The notice of intent to introduce a technological change shall contain:

(i) the nature of the change;

- (ii) effective date of the change;
- (iii) the approximate number, type and location of members affected by change;
- (iv) the anticipated effects the change may have on Union members;
- (v) any other pertinent data related to anticipated effects on the employees.

The Board shall update this information as new developments arise and modifications are made.

(c) Introduction of Technological Change

Where the Board introduces or intends to introduce a technological change that

- (i) affects the terms, conditions or security of employment of an employee to whom this Collective Agreement applies; and
- (ii) alters significantly the basis on which this Collective Agreement was negotiated,

either party may refer the matter to arbitration under Article 15, Grievance Procedure.

- (d) The employer agrees to offer alternate employment to an employee made redundant by technological change provided a suitable alternative position is available. If no position is available then bumping shall be provided in accordance with Article 7.
- (e) The employer shall provide retraining for such employees where required, and where feasible, provided said employee is retrainable and/or is willing to be retrained. Every effort shall be made to ensure that the employee suffers no loss in pay.

ARTICLE 17. - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

17.01 Length

This agreement shall be for the period from and including January 1, 2011 to and including June 30, 2012 and from year to year thereafter subject to the right of either party to the Agreement at any time within four (4) months immediately preceding the date of the expiry of this agreement or immediately preceding the last day of December in any year thereafter, by written notice, to require the other party to the agreement to commence collective bargaining.

17.02 Notice/Strike/Lockout/Revision of Agreement

Should either party give written notice as aforesaid, this agreement shall thereafter continue in full force and affect and neither party shall make any changes in the terms of the said agreement (or increase or decrease the rate of pay of any employee for whom collective bargaining is being conducted nor alter any other terms or conditions of employment) until:

- (a) The Union shall give notice to strike (or goes on strike) or
- (b) The Board shall give notice of lockout (or the Board shall lock out its employees) or
- (c) The parties shall conclude a renewal or revision of this Agreement, or enter into a new collective Agreement, whichever is the earliest.

ARTICLE 18. - REMUNERATION

18.01 Wages as per Schedule "A"

In addition the parties have agreed to the following salary increase in accordance with BCPSEA guidelines. Wages will increase by 3.5%. Increases will be effective on the following dates:

July 1, 2013	1.0%
February 1, 2014	2.0%
May 1, 2014	0.5%

Any wage increase is subject to the PSEC mandate for K-12 support staff in effect at July 1, 2006 and must be approved by BCPSEA prior to implementation.

SCHEDULE A

CATEGORY / EFFECTIVE DATE	1-Jul	1-Jul	1-Feb	1-May
	2009	2013	2014	2014
Maintenance				
Casual Labourer	15.32	15.47	15.78	15.86
Labourer	17.95	18.13	18.49	18.59
Grounds man	20.66	20.87	21.29	21.39
Semi-Skilled Tradesman	21.08	21.29	21.72	21.82
Skilled Tradesman	25.52	25.78	26.30	26.43
General Foreman	25.39	25.64	26.15	26.28
Service Technician	23.34	23.57	24.04	24.16
Transportation				
Mechanic	26.39	26.65	27.18	27.32
Bus Driver	21.06	21.27	21.70	21.80
Transportation Supervisor	27.85	28.13	28.69	28.84
Custodial				
Custodian	19.36	19.55	19.94	20.04
Casual Custodian - with no certification	15.32	15.47	15.78	15.86
Shift Differential (after 3:00 pm)	0.37	0.37	0.37	0.37
Clerical				
School Secretary	21.64	21.86	22.30	22.41
Library Aide	18.92	19.11	19.49	19.59
Accounts Clerk	20.02	20.22	20.62	20.73
Receptionist	18.65	18.84	19.22	19.31
Payroll Clerk	22.97	23.2	23.66	23.78
Special Education				
Child Care Counsellor	23.61	23.85	24.33	24.45
Speech Language Assistant	20.51	20.72	21.13	21.24
Strong Start Coordinator	21.85	22.07	22.51	22.62
Special Education Assistant (SE0101)	21.85	22.07	22.51	22.62
Unqualified Special Education Assistant (SE0102) *		17.85	18.21	18.30
	*	19.85	20.25	20.35
Fig. 4 M 4				
First Nations Aboriginal Coordinator	24.51	24.76	25.26	25.38
First Nations Support Worker	24.51	24.76	25.26	25.36
rnst nations support worker	21.21	41.44	21.03	21.70
Other				
Noon Hour Supervisor/Crossing Guards	16.95	17.12	17.46	17.55

Unqualified Special Education Assistant (SE0102)

Unqualified Special Education Assistant (SE0103)

⁻not working towards certification

⁻working towards certification

ARTICLE 19. - CROSSING GUARDS/NOON-HOUR SUPERVISION

The parties agree that the traditional level of usage of parents and students may continue and that positions that are held by employees will continue to be held by employees while such jobs exist.

The parties agree that these positions will be posted as per the Collective Agreement.

The parties agree that employees holding these positions will be considered as Part-time Employees as defined in Article 1.04

The parties agree that Article 6 will apply to the positions and that the purpose of Article 6.01 the full time equivalent days will consist of seven (7) hours. Upon successful completion of the probationary period the employees will be credited with seniority earned from September, 1992.

The parties agree that these positions will be subject to the probationary period detailed in Article 1.02. All existing employees in these positions will begin their probationary period on their first work day in September 1993.

The parties agree that for the purposes of staffing for September 1993 the positions in these categories will be filled on the basis of date of hire seniority, except in cases of the extension of hours for existing employees within the bargaining unit.

The parties agree that the hourly rate for the positions will be set at the same level as that of "Casual Labour" in Schedule "A" of the Collective Agreement.

The parties agree that the employees in these positions will not be entitled to receive benefits under this Collective Agreement.

Note:

Position means only the crossing guard/noon-hour supervision jobs currently held by employees.

ARTICLE 20. - HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board will involve support staff in the development and application of the Board's policy on Health and Safety. The Board's Health and Safety policy will be appended and form part of this contract.

ARTICLE 21. - HARASSMENT/SEXUAL HARASSMENT

21.01 General:

- (a) The employer recognizes the right of all employees to work, to conduct business and otherwise associate free from harassment or sexual harassment.
- (b) The employer considers harassment in any form to be totally unacceptable and will not tolerate its occurrence. Proven harasses shall be subject to discipline and/or corrective actions. Such actions may include counselling, courses that develop an awareness of harassment, verbal warning, written warning, transfer, suspension or dismissal.
- (c) No employee shall be subject to reprisal, threat of reprisal or discipline as the result of filing a complaint of harassment or sexual harassment which the complainant reasonably believes to be valid.
- (d) All parties involved in a complaint agree to deal with the complaint expeditiously and to respect confidentiality.

(e) The complainant and/or the alleged offender, if a member(s) of the Local, may at the choice of the employee be accompanied by a representative(s) of the Local at all meetings in this procedure.

21.02 Definitions:

- (a) For the purpose of this article harassment shall be defined as including:
 - i. sexual harassment; or
 - ii. any improper behaviour that is directed at or offensive to any person, is unwelcome, and which the person knows or ought reasonably to know would be unwelcome; or
 - iii. objectionable conduct, comment, materials or display made on either a one-time or continuous basis that demeans, belittles, intimidates, or humiliates another person; or
 - iv. the exercise of power or authority in a manner which serves no legitimate work purpose and which a person ought reasonably to know is inappropriate; or
 - v. such misuses of power or authority as intimidation, threats, coercion and blackmail.
- (b) The definition of "sexual harassment" shall include:
 - i. any comment, look, suggestion, physical contact, or real or implied action of a sexual nature which creates an uncomfortable working environment for the recipient, made by a person who knows or ought reasonably to know such behaviour is unwelcome; or
 - ii. any circulation or display of visual material of a sexual nature that has the effect of creating an uncomfortable working environment; or
 - iii. an implied promise of reward for complying with a request of a sexual nature; or
 - iv. A sexual advance made by a person in authority over the recipient that includes or implies a threat or an expressed or implied denial of an opportunity which would otherwise be granted or available and may include a reprisal or a threat of reprisal made after a sexual advance.

SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused to	this agreement to be executed this day of
, 20, by affixing the signatu	ures of their officers thereunto lawfully
authorized in that behalf.	
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

Between The Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)

And

The Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

Lay-offs

The parties agree that there will be no layoffs of Union Support employees after September 30 for the duration of the school year. Staff changes that become necessary during the school year will be dealt with through transfers initiated by the Board in the following manner:

- 1. When a work location identifies an employee as surplus to that location the employee will be so informed.
- Prior to initiating a transfer, the Board will provide the surplus employee with an opportunity to indicate preferences to be considered for any available positions within the same classification for which that employee is qualified.
- If there are no available positions within the same classifications or at the same or greater number of hours the Board may reassign the surplus employee to another work location at the same classification and at the same or greater hours or to the casual list on a "float" basis.

This applies to only laid-off employees (after September 30) and not to restructure the workforce.

SIGNATURES	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caus	red this agreement to be executed this <u>12th</u> day of
<u>September</u> , 20 <u>06</u> , by affixing the signatur	res of their officers thereunto lawfully
authorized in that behalf.	
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423
Original document signed by: R. Tustian	Original document signed by: B. A. Bourel
Kenneth Campbell	J. L. Campbell

Between The Board Of Education for School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)

And

The Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

Four (4) Hour Minimum

The District is committed to providing a minimum of four (4) hours of work for all Employees reporting to work.

Exemptions from the four (4) hour minimum:

- Noon/Morning/Bus/After-school/Playground supervisors,
- Small schools with enrollment of seventy-five (75) students in which case a two (2) hour minimum will apply,
- Casual replacements,
- Employees hired from Aboriginal targeted funds, and/or employees hired under funding from other agencies or ministries.
- Any other positions by mutual agreement.

Hours will be consecutive where provincial funding for this purpose is available.

Bus Drivers are exempt from the requirement of consecutive hours. The daily hours shall be completed within a period of twelve (consecutive hours).

The four (4) hour minimum shall be implemented no later than September 1, 2001.

The District will implement the four (4) hour minimum consistent with the attached criteria and provisions of the collective agreement:

- If either party identifies that the criteria was not followed, or that they disagree with the decision, the issue shall be forwarded to the Labour Management Committee.
- If the Labour Management Committee determines the criteria was not followed the District will correct the situation: and
- If subsequent to this process either party determines that the criteria was not followed, that party may move the issue to grievance.

The parties agree to implement the above four (4) hour minimum to the extent that any additional costs are fully funded by specific additional funding, as per IIC 2 requirement, for the implementation and maintenance of the four (4) hour minimum.

CRITERIA FOR ATTAINING FOUR (4) HOUR MINIMUMS

In providing and maintaining an appropriate service level to students, management may consider the following points when implementing a four (4) hour minimum:

- Compression of the work week;
- A combination of positions;

- The elimination of current positions of less than four (4) hours and the lay-off of employees in those positions;
- The reassignment of hours of current positions less than four (4) hours; The funding available for the implementation of the four (4) hour minimum from the Provincial Four (4) Hour Minimum
- The position requirements, if any, for combined positions;
- The applicability of other articles in the collective agreement;
- Other positions that an exemption may apply to.

SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caus	red this agreement to be executed this <u>12</u> day of		
<u>September</u> , 20 <u>06</u> , by affixing the signatu	ures of their officers thereunto lawfully		
authorized in that behalf.			
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423		
Original document signed by: R. Tustian	Original document signed by: B. A. Bourel		
Kenneth Campbell	J. L. Campbell		
			

Between The Board Of Education for School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)

And

The Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

Maintenance Plan of the Pay Equity Plan

This Letter of Understanding is developed to provide for ongoing Maintenance Plan of the **Pay Equity Plan** between CMAWBC Local Unit 2423 and School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade) in accordance with PSEC guide-lines.

The Parties have used the gender neutral job evaluation plan that had its basis with the plan developed by School District No. 76 (Agassiz-Harrison). The employee jobs were evaluated by a joint CMAWBC and Management committee and a final plan for School District No. 78 was established under guidelines approved by PSEC.

Achievement of full pay equity as shown in the Pay Equity Plan is dependent on the continuation of funding by the Provincial Government for that purpose.

1. Joint Evaluation Committee

- (a) There shall be a Joint Evaluation Committee (JEC) comprised of two (2) representatives of the Union and two (2) representatives of the Board. Each party may have one (1) alternate.
- (b) The Committee shall be supplied with all documentation including job descriptions and previous evaluation results.
- (c) Release time for members of the JEC committee shall be granted in accordance with the collective agreement.
- (d) Nothing in the Agreement shall be interpreted as barring the Parties to this Agreement from engaging third party advisers to the Committee, however they shall function as advisers only.

2. Wage Protection

- (a) Male dominated jobs shall be paid at the rates established by negotiation in the Collective Agreement. Negotiated wage increases will apply to these positions.
- (b) All female positions above the regression line and currently paid at the rate above their evaluated rate will not be affected by the pay equity process. Negotiated wage increases will apply to these positions.

3. Procedures for Changed Positions

Whenever the Employer changes the duties, responsibilities and qualifications of a job or the employee(s) Union believes that the duties, responsibilities and qualifications have significantly changed, the JEC committee shall review all information relating to the job and evaluate the job as follows:

(a) The incumbent(s)/Union or the supervisor/employer may request, in writing, a job evaluation review.

- (b) The JEC committee shall proceed to gather relevant, accurate, up-to-date information on the job. An interview shall be held with all stakeholders affected by the change. These will include but are limited to the following: incumbents, supervisors and/or co-workers. The JEC committee may also visit the job site. Based on the information gathered, the committee may update the job description as necessary.
- (d) If the JEC committee determines that the job has been changed, the JEC committee shall meet to rate each sub-factor of the job and establish a new rating for the job. The JEC will advise the incumbent(s) and the Supervisor of its decision.
- (e) The rate of pay will be negotiated directly with the union and will be consistent with the Pay Equity Plan.

4. Procedures for New Jobs

- (a) Whenever the Employer establishes a new job, the JEC shall review the job description and assign a temporary evaluation for the job using the process in #3. The evaluation shall determine the interim wage rate for the job.
- (b) Six (6) months from the appointment of an incumbent to the job, the incumbent(s) and the supervisor shall complete a Job Analysis Questionnaire which shall be submitted, along with an updated job description, to the JEC.
- (c) The JEC shall recommend a finalized job description and evaluation.
- (d) A negotiated pay rate shall be paid to each incumbent effective the date of his/her appointment to the job. The rate of pay will be consistent with the Pay Equity Plan.

5. Evaluation Procedures for Routine Reviews

- (a) It is important to maintain accurate job descriptions and evaluations on an ongoing basis. It is the intention of the Parties to review, adjust as necessary, and re-evaluate of all positions by March 31st, of every third year. The starting point for this review will be September 2003.
- (b) No job will be reviewed more than once in a thirty-six (36) month period unless there is a significant change in the duties and responsibilities.
- (c) To complete the ongoing reviews, the JEC shall proceed to gather accurate, up-to-date information of the job. The gathering of information may involve requesting the incumbent(s) and supervisor(s) to complete an up-to-date job analysis questionnaire. The gathering of information may also involve interviews with the incumbent(s) and supervisor(s) and/or visits to the job sites.
- (d) The JEC shall recommend a finalized job description and evaluate the job using the process in #3.

6. Dispute Resolution

(a) In the event the JEC is unable to reach agreement on any matter relating to the interpretation, application or administration of the evaluation plan (including the classification or pay rate of male-dominated positions reclassified under this Agreement) the JEC shall request, within ten (10) work days, that each party designate an adviser to meet with the committee. The two (2) advisers shall meet with the committee to assist in reaching a decision.

- (b) If, after meeting the two (2) advisers, the JEC remains unable to agree upon the matter in dispute, the JEC shall advise, in writing, within ten (10) working days, the Union and the Employer of this fact.
- (c) The dispute shall then be submitted to arbitration.
- (d) The arbitrator shall decide the matter upon which the JEC or the parties have been unable to agree and his/her decision shall be final and binding on the JEC, the Union and all affected employees. The arbitrator shall be bound by this Agreement and shall not have the power to modify or amend any of its provisions. The jurisdiction of the arbitrator shall be limited to the matter in dispute, as submitted by the Parties.
- (e) The Employee and the Union shall be the Parties to the arbitration hearing and shall have the right to present evidence as argument concerning the matter in dispute. The arbitrator shall have the power of an arbitrator appointed pursuant to the Collective Agreement and, in addition, shall have the authority to require the Parties to present additional information and to require other person(s) to present evidence as deemed necessary by the arbitrator.
- (f) The arbitrator's fees and expenses shall be borne equally between the Parties.
- (g) The time limits may be extended by mutual agreement of the Parties.

SIGNATURES	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have car	used this agreement to be executed this <u>1st</u> day of
<u>February</u> , 20 <u>12</u> , by affixing the signate	ures of their officers thereunto lawfully
authorized in that behalf.	
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council,

Local Unit 2423

Between

The Board Of Education for School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)

And

The Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

Extra Week at Spring Break

This Letter of Understanding is developed to provide the basis upon which support staff will work and be paid during the one extra week off at Spring Break outside of the Spring Break as set out by the standard school calendar.

For regular twelve (12) month employees, the District will encourage that time be taken as vacation during this break. If there is work that must be done during this period, a request to work during this period with the rationale can be made to the Secretary-Treasurer through the employee's supervisor, for approval.

For regular ten (10) month employees, in accordance with non-instruction time other than professional development days, the time will be taken off. The District will pay holiday pay during this period from the bank accrued to June 30 of the year in which the break occurs.

Casual employees will not work during this period unless expressly requested by the Secretary-Treasurer.

Whenever possible, the Board encourages vacation time to be taken off during natural breaks in the school year.

SIGNATURES

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused	d this agreement to be executed this day of
, 20, by affixing the signa	atures of their officers thereunto lawfully
authorized in that behalf.	
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council Local Unit 2423

Between

The Board Of Education for School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade) "Employer"

And

Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423 "Union

This letter will outline the implementation of the New Article 6 – Seniority.

There is a recognition that current casual staff have accrued time with the District, which under the Collective Agreement Language from July 1, 2006 to June 30, 2010 Seniority language would have added together to establish seniority time on the seniority list.

To recognize this element, current casual staff as of December 31, 2011 will have the time earned from January 1, 2001 per Article 1.01 (c) to the date of transition to the new language (December 31, 2011) included in the calculation of their hire date.

The calculation will be made in the same manner as the manner in which the hours will be translated into a date for regular employees

AGREED February 28, 2012

CMAW Local 2423 Board of Education for School District No. 78

(Fraser-Cascade)

Original document signed by:

B. A. Bourel

Original document signed by:

N. Lowe-Zucchet

Provincial Framework Agreement ("Framework")

between

BC Public School Employers' Association ("BCPSEA")

and

The CUPE BC K-12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions ("the Unions")

BCPSEA and the Unions ("the Parties") agree to recommend the following framework for inclusion in the collective agreements between local Support Staff Unions and Boards of Education.

The rights and obligations of the local parties under this framework are of no force or effect unless their collective agreement has been ratified by both parties no later than Dec. 20, 2013.

1. Term

July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2014.

2. Wage Increases

Wages will increase by 3.5%. Increases will be effective on the following dates:

- July 1, 2013 1.0%
- February 1, 2014 2.0%
- May 1, 2014 0.5%

3. The Support Staff Education and Adjustment Committee (SSEAC)

The Parties agree to renew their commitment to the Support Staff Education and Adjustment Committee (SSEAC). The Parties remain committed to the exploration of the following:

- a) a focus on best practices to integrate skill development for support staff employees with district goals and student needs
- b) a study of the potential for regionalization of wages
- c) an exploration of the potential for a standardized extended health and dental benefit plan

- d) recommendations to address issues associated with hours of work and service delivery
- e) a review of practices in districts having modified school calendars and the resulting impact on support staff
- f) skills enhancement for support staff

4. Recognition & Respect for Education Assistants

- a) The Parties agree to establish a Committee charged with the responsibility of investigating and making recommendations regarding possibilities for the creation of whole Education Assistant jobs, and for the deployment of Education Assistant staff in accordance with recognized best practices.
- b) The Parties agree the Committee will engage with the Ministry of Education around the implementation of a system of recognized credentials and qualifications to regulate the employment of Education Assistants.
- c) The Parties agree the Committee will convene its initial meeting within six weeks of the ratification of support staff collective agreements.
- d) The Parties agree the Committee will be resourced with a fixed budget drawn from SSEAC funds to accomplish its work.
- e) The Parties agree that the Committee will complete its work in time to report back to the Parties for the next round of support staff bargaining.

Items previously agreed to (see attached):

Agreed Understanding of the term Education Assistant

Letter to the Ministry of Education requesting term Education Assistant be made applicable to legislation and regulations.

5. Illness and Injury Leave, Costs and Replacement Policies

Eligibility for sick leave or indemnity payments requires participation in the Joint Early Intervention Service (JEIS) according to the JEIS policies of the PEBT.

The provincial and local parties agree to investigate the use and cost of sick leave and Board staff replacement policies with a view to recommending best practices to the parties and the PEBT.

6. Drug Plan

- (a) The prescription drug provisions of the PEBT extended health plans will be amended, subject to paragraph (b), to provide coverage in accordance with the BlueRX Formulary and implementation of the BlueNet pay direct card.
- (b) Bargaining units with existing drug card coverage and/or those using the Pharmacare formulary are not covered by (a). The provincial parties urge the local parties to seek ways, through local negotiations, to move towards this new provincial standard.

The parties agree to amend and renew the December 14, 2011 Letter of Understanding, including:

a. Dedicated Funding

Dedicated funding in the amount \$100,000 to facilitate the next round of provincial bargaining.

b. PEBT

The Parties agree to include the <u>Settlors Statement on Accepted Policy and Practices of the PEBT</u> as contained in the 2011 Letter of Understanding as an attachment to their local collective agreements.

c. Demographic, Classification and Wage Information

The undertakings with respect to providing information contained in the 2011 Letter of Understanding are renewed.

8. Enabling Shared Services

The Parties and representatives of the Ministry of Education will examine and discuss any impediments arising from, and the options to facilitate, the introduction of shared services.

Signed this 18th day of September, 2013.

For BCPSEA	For the Unions		
[Original signed by Bargaining Committee]	[Original signed by Bargaining Committee]		
4	* *		

Support Staff Provincial Discussion Agreed Upon Language

Add the following letter of understanding to each collective agreement where the parties are signatory to this agreement:

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING No. 1

BETWEEN:

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 78(Fraser Cascade)

("The Board")

AND

Construction Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council Local 2423 ("The Union")

Re: Agreed Understanding of the Term Education Assistant

For the purposes of this collective agreement, where applicable, the term Education Assistant (EA) has the same meaning as Special Education Assistant as found in the 2010-2012 Collective Agreement and is not intended to alter or amend any terms or conditions of employment.

The parties will meet to review existing position titles and develop a schedule of position(s) that require the incorporation of the position title Education Assistant (EA).

Signed this <u>* X</u> day of	2013.
W - Com	13 ABaural
For The Board	For The Union

Signed this 18th day of September, 2013.

[Original signed by Peter Cameron]

Bill Pegler

[Original signed by Bill Pegler]

Peter Cameron

CUPE

BCPSEA





September 18, 2013

Claire Avison Assistant Deputy Minister, Governance, Legislation and Regulation Ministry of Education

Dear Ms. Avison:

As part of the framework discussions between the K-12 Support Staff Unions and BCPSEA, the parties have agreed that it is desirable to facilitate a transition from the term "Teacher's Assistant" to "Education Assistant".

The parties agree that "Education Assistant" more accurately describes the nature of the work in the current context and into the future. We respectfully request that consideration be given to the possibility that a similar change could be made to applicable legislation and regulations.

Yours truly,

[Original signed by Peter Cameron]
Peter Cameron
BCPSEA

[Original signed by Bill Pegler] Bill Pegler CUPE



Bill Pegler K-12 Coordinator Canadian Union of Public Employees (CUPE)

Letter of Commitment

BCPSEA agrees to coordinate the accumulation and distribution of demographic, classification and wage data, as specified in the Letter of Understanding dated December 14, 2011, to CUPE on behalf of Boards of Education. The data currently housed in the Employment Data and Analysis Systems (EDAS) will be the source of the requested information.

Original signed on December 14, 2011 by
[Original signed by Jacquie Griffiths]
Jacquie Griffiths
Associate Executive Director
BCPSEA

Attachment 2

Memorandum: To All Member School Districts and Support Staff Unions

Settlors Statement on Accepted Policy and Practices of the PEBT

The Public Education Benefits Trust Fund (PEBT) was created in June 2002 and is sponsored by both the British Columbia Public School Employers' Association (BCPSEA) and the Canadian Union of Public Employees (CUPE). The program is governed by a Board of Trustees representing both School Districts and Support Staff workers in the K -12 sector. Currently, there are 59 school districts, 67 union locals, and over 20,000 plan members participating in the trust.

The Settlors to the PEBT are BCPSEA and CUPE. The PEBT holds a Settlors meeting annually where the Settlors are provided with an annual report and update from the Board. The Settlors also have an opportunity to raise issues and give input to the Board.

The PEBT sponsors a confidential Joint Early Intervention Service (JEIS) as an integral part of the disability program to assist plan members in their return to work. The program is supported by Unions, School Districts and the PEBT and is provided through funding from the provincial government for the "Core" LTD.

The PEBT is now entering its eighth year and members are more familiar with the plan and its operations. However, the PEBT Board has asked the Settlors to remind their respective constituents of the importance of following the policies and practices applied by the PEBT in providing the various benefits.

The Settlors recognize the value and importance of the PEBT in the K-12 Public Education Sector. The Settlors also recognize and support following the policies and procedures of the PEBT (outlined at www.PEBT.ca). The Settlors agree to work with and encourage their respective parties to adhere to the policies and procedures of the PEBT.

For further clarification please contact your BCPSEA or CUPE representative.

Between The Board Of Education for School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)

And

The Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

2006 - 2010 Agreement

The parties to this Letter of Understanding are the BC Public School Employers' Association (BCPSEA), school boards who are signatories to this LOU, and the support staff unions who are Signatories to this LOU.

The terms set out below represent a full and final settlement of all outstanding cost issues between the parties who are signatories to this LOU. All outstanding cost demands not specifically addressed below are deemed to be withdrawn.

Subsequent to the execution of this document, the local parties will prepare and execute a Memorandum of Agreement incorporating the terms set out herein, together with any other non-cost issues agreed to between the parties.

It is understood and agreed that the obligations of school districts set out in this Letter of Understanding shall be of no force and effect unless a collective agreement has been reached by the affected local parties prior to June 30, 2006, and subsequently ratified.

Term

July 1, 2006 to June 30, 2010

General Wage Increase

July 1, 2006	2%
July 1, 2007	2%
July 1, 2008	2%
July 1, 2009	2%

Incentive Payment

Should the parties conclude an agreement by June 30, 2006 and the settlement is subsequently ratified, each bargaining unit member who is an employee of the School District at the earlier of the date of ratification or June 30, 2006 shall be eligible to receive a onetime lump sum incentive payment.

The following principles for distribution shall guide the parties in the distribution of this one-time funding:

- The incentive payment shall be up to \$ 3,700 for each full-time equivalent employee and shall be pro-rated for part-time employees.
- For the purpose of the determination of the amount of the incentive payment, a full-time equivalent employee is an employee who worked on a full-time basis for the period of July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006. For the purposes of this payment, "full-time" means the greater of 35 hours per week or the definition of "full-time" employee set out in the collective agreement. If ratification occurs prior to June 30, 2006, the incentive payment would be based from

September 1 2005 to the date of ratification. The incentive payment for an employee who worked less than full-time over this period shall be pro-rated for the fraction of full-time work over this period that the employee worked.

- The one-time payment is subject to normal statutory deductions.
- Time spent by employees on the following leaves shall be considered as time worked for the purpose of calculating the amount of an employee's incentive payment:
 - maternity or parental
 - short-term disability
 - long-term disability that commenced within the twelve (12)-month period ending on the incentive eligibility date
 - leaves granted to employees in receipt of workers' compensation benefits

The incentive payment shall be paid to employees as soon after the date of ratification as is practicable for the institution to determine and pay the payment amounts to employees. The employer shall make every reasonable effort to make the incentive payment to employees no later than June 30, 2006.

Subject to the allocated funding above, the local and the district may also choose to allocate the funds in a manner consistent with the district's staffing structure.

Public Education Support Staff Skills Enhancement, Apprenticeship and Workforce Adjustment Committee

- 1. The parties agree to establish a Support Staff Skills Enhancement, Apprenticeship and Workforce Adjustment Committee which shall consist of four (4) representatives of support staff unions who are signatories to this LOU, and four (4) representatives of BCPSEA.
- 2. By no later than September 30, 2006, the Committee shall develop specific criteria to be used in allocating the funds provided to it under this Letter of Understanding, including the processes and deadlines under which Districts and local unions may jointly seek to access funds held by the Committee. These processes will include a requirement that Districts and local unions seeking to access the funds provide the Committee with:
 - a. an employee demographic analysis; and
 - b. a human resource plan which provides for the development and maintenance of a qualified and sustainable support staff workforce.

In the event the Committee cannot agree on any of the matters within its jurisdiction, these matters will be referred to Mark Brown for mediation and, if, necessary final adjudication.

Skills Enhancement and Retraining Funding

- 3. The Committee will be provided with a one-time payment equal to a province-wide maximum of \$3,000,000, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided with \$1.5 million). These monies will be used to support skills training, retraining, or professional enhancement for support staff employees.
- 4. The funding will be available to all support staff employees whose support staff unions become signatories to this Letter of Understanding.

5. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.

Apprenticeship Opportunities Funding

- 6. The Committee will be provided with a one-time payment equal to a maximum of \$3,000,000, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided with \$1.5 million). These monies will be used to facilitate and support apprenticeship opportunities in British Columbia school districts.
- 7. The funding will be available to all support staff employees whose bargaining agents become signatories to this Letter of Understanding.
- 8. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.

Apprentice Sponsor Funding

9. The Committee shall be provided with funding in the following maximum amounts, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided with 50% of the funding set out below), to provide a wage increase to all employees with Trades Qualifications:

July 1, 2007	\$828,000
July 1, 2008	\$828,000
July 1, 2009	\$828,000

- 10 It is understood that employees with Trade Qualifications will provide guidance and support to apprentice employees as directed by their employer.
- 11. The funding will be available to all support staff employees whose bargaining agents becomes signatories to a Letter of Understanding containing the terms and conditions outlined herein.
- 12. The amount of the wage increase shall be determined by dividing the available monies in each year equally between employees with Trades Qualifications in signatory bargaining units.
- 13. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner as prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.

Workforce Adjustment Committee Funding

14. The Committee will be provided with a one-time payment equal to a maximum of \$4,000,000, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided

with \$2 million). These monies will be used to facilitate and support workforce adjustment issues arising from non-routine and fundamental restructuring within a given school district, including shared services and regionalization. Any unused portion of the money from this fund will be reallocated (in the discretion of the Committee) to either the Skills Enhancement and Retraining Fund and/or the Apprentice Opportunities Fund.

- 15. The funding will be available to all support staff employees whose bargaining agents become signatories to this Letter of Understanding.
- 16. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.

Labour Market Adjustment Fund

- 17. Subject to the approval of the Committee, a district may address demonstrated recruitment or retention issues that can be objectively determined with reference to specific criteria, including:
 - i. Demonstrating evidence of recruitment or retention difficulties;
 - ii. Providing relevant market data that specifically includes employers likely to recruit from the public sector employer and employers that the public sector employer has recruited from;
 - iii. Identifying which occupations and the number of employees that will be affected by the adjustment;
 - iv. Identifying options for the size of the market adjustments, and identify the risks associated with each of the options; i.e. collective bargaining;
 - v. Demonstrating that the employer has provided significant training to employees in an occupation, and that a business case can be made for an adjustment.

Adjustments proposed under this paragraph must be funded through demonstrable cost neutral trade-offs.

18. In addition, the Committee shall be provided with Labour Market Adjustment funding in the following maximum amounts, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided with 50% of the funding set out below):

July 1, 2007	\$1,656,000
July 1, 2008	\$828,000
July 1, 2009	\$828,000

- 19. The funding will be available to all support staff employees whose bargaining agents become signatories to this Letter of Understanding.
- 20. In order to access the funding set out in paragraph 18 above, districts and locals must make joint application to the Committee and must demonstrate that the funding sought will be used to address recruitment and retention issues on the basis of the criteria set out in paragraph 17 above. The provision of this funding will be subject to the approval of PSEC.
- 21. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.
- 22. The continuation of the Labour Market Adjustment Fund beyond July 1, 2009 shall be determined during the next round of collective bargaining between the parties.

Trades Adjustment

23. The Committee shall be provided with funding in the following maximum amounts, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the Committee will be provided with 50% of the funding set out below), to provide a wage increase to all employees with Trades Qualifications:

July 1, 2006	\$1,656,000
July 1, 2007	\$828,000
Iulv 1, 2008	\$828,000

- 24. The amount of the wage increase shall be determined by dividing the available monies in each year equally between employees with Trades Qualifications in signatory bargaining units.
- 25. Upon request, the Committee shall provide to the Ministry of Education a report in the form and manner prescribed by the Ministry, showing the expenditures made to date and the estimated future expenditures from the funding provided.

Liaison on Education Policy Matters

27.The Minister of Education will establish scheduled opportunities for representatives of support staff unions to discuss education policy matters that have employment implications for their bargaining unit members.

Education Assistants Committee

- 28. During this round of collective bargaining, representatives of the support staff unions raised concerns with educational assistants working hours and not being paid.
- 29. The parties agree to establish an Educational Assistants Committee which shall consist of two (2) representatives of support staff unions who are signatories to this LOU and two (2) representatives of BCPSEA by no later than July 1, 2006. The committee shall investigate and make recommendations concerning this issue, including directions for resolution to Districts and locals.

Long Term Disability and Joint Early Intervention

30. Employers whose bargaining units become signatories to this LOU and who are not currently members of the Public Education Benefits Trust (PEBT) shall become members of the PEBT (including the operation of the Joint Early Intervention Service). It is understood that Government will provide the PEBT with funding in the maximum amount of \$7.9 million dollars annually for this purpose, pro-rated based on the support staff salary expenditures reported in the 2005-2006 audited financial statements of Districts whose support staff unions which become signatories to this Letter of Understanding (for example if unions representing 50% of support staff salary expenditures in the Province become signatories to this LOU, the maximum financial commitment of Government shall be \$3.95 million). Subject to the above, funding will be provided on the first business day after July 1, 2006, and on the first business day after January 1 in each calendar year commencing January 1, 2007. The parties further agree that in order to access the government funded LTD plan and the Joint Early Intervention Service they shall place their dental, extended health, group life insurance and, where applicable, accidental death and dismemberment benefit coverage as soon as the PEBT is able to take on this responsibility.

- 31. Once the PEBT is able to do so, the parties agree that they will participate on the following conditions:
 - a. If there is no penalty clause in the current contract(s) with existing benefit carrier(s)/consultants, as soon as possible; or
 - b. If there is a penalty clause, the benefits will be transferred when the current contract(s) expires.
- 32. The Parties agree that any references to specific benefit carriers providing the benefits identified above will be effective only until the date of participation in the benefits trust.

Fiscal Dividend

33. Each Memorandum of Agreement shall include a Letter of Agreement for a Fiscal Dividend Bonus.

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

Having agreed the term of the Collective Agreement to be from July 1, 2006 to June 30, 2010 a Fiscal Dividend Bonus may be paid from a one-time fund (the "Fund") generated out of monies, in excess of \$150 million, surplus to the BC government, as defined in the Province's audited financial statements, for the fiscal year 2009-10.

1.0 Fiscal Dividend:

- 1.1 If fiscal dividend funds are determined to be available, upon receipt of funding from the government, a fiscal dividend will be paid to employees as soon as practicable for the school district to calculate the individual payment amounts and distribute the funds.
- 1.2 The quantum of the Fund accessible for the parties to this agreement will be based on the Province's audited financial statements as at March 31 2010.

The Fund will be determined as follows:

- i. The calculations will be based on the surplus, as calculated before deduction of any expense associated with the Fiscal Dividend Bonus, achieved in fiscal 2009-10, as published in the audited financial statements for that fiscal year, provided that the surplus is in excess of \$150 million.
- ii. Only final surplus monies in excess of \$150 million will be part of the Fund, and the total quantum of the Fund for the entire public sector (including all categories of employees) will not exceed \$300 million.
- iii. The quantum of the Fund will be constrained by the proportion of the public sector that is eligible to participate in the Fiscal Dividend Bonus; i.e., 100% of the Fund will be available if 100% of all categories of employees in the public sector under the purview of the Public Sector Employers' Council participate, but if a lesser number participate, a proportionately lesser amount of the Fund will be available.
- iv. Additionally, the Fund will be proportioned among all groups of public sector employees by ratio of group population to total population participating.
- 1.3 Each bargaining unit member who is a regular employee of the School District on March 31, 2010 shall be eligible to receive the Fiscal Dividend Bonus.
- 1.4 The fiscal dividend payment shall be an amount as described in clause 1.2 above for each regular full time equivalent employee and shall be pro-rated for regular part time employees. For the purpose of the determination of the amount of the fiscal dividend payment, a full time equivalent employee is a regular employee who

worked on a full time basis for the period September 1, 2009 – June 30, 2010. The fiscal dividend payment for a regular employee who worked less than full time over this period of time shall be pro-rated based on the actual straight-time hours worked as a percentage of full time hours. Time spent by employees on the following leaves shall be considered as time worked for the purpose of calculating the amount of an employee's dividend payment:

- All leaves with pay
- Maternity and parental leave
- All unpaid medical leaves that commenced between July 1, 2009 and June 30, 2010

CI		NΤ	۸ r	ri i	D.	Ē٩
`	11	IVI	А		ıĸ.	н. 🥆

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused this agreement to be executed this day of	
, 20, by affixing the signa	atures of their officers thereunto lawfully
authorized in that behalf.	
Signed for the Board of Education School District No. 78 (Fraser-Cascade)	Signed for the Construction, Maintenance and Allied Workers Bargaining Council, Local Unit 2423

INDEX

Accumulation of Vacation, 21

Afternoon Shift, 16 Appendix A, 45

APPOINTMENTS AND TRANSFERS, 9

Assignment to Substitute, 20

Benefits, 15

Bereavement Leave, 23

Call Back, 16 Casual Employee, 7 Clothing Allowance, 27

Conditions Governing Selection and

Appointment, 9

CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT, 11

Continuous Employment, 8

Day Shift, 16 Dues Check-Off, 11 Employee Agreement, 12 Employee Expenses, 20 Employee's Duties, 12

Equivalent Positions Geographical Areas, 15

Exempt Staff - Seniority, 12 Extra Shifts - Bus Drivers, 18 Four (4) Hour Minimum, 38 Group Life Insurance, 25

Hand Tools, 28 Health, 23

Hours of Work Bus Drivers, 17

Incapacitated While on Vacation, 21

Job Postings, 9 Job Security, 10 Layoff and Recall, 13

LAY-OFF AND RECALL PROCEDURES, 13

LEAVES, 22 Length, 31

Letters of Understanding, 37, 38, 40, 43, 44, 53

Long Term Disability, 27 Loss of Seniority, 13 MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS, 9

Maternity/Parental/Adoption leave, 23

Medical Examination, 12

Monthly Remittance, 11 New Construction, 29

Night Shift, 16

Notice of Hours of Work, 16

Notice of Lay-off, 13

Overtime, 17

Overtime Meal Allowance, 20 Part-Time Employee, 8 Part-time Schedules, 16 Pay Equity Plan, 40 Payment on Lay-off, 14 Personnel File, 30

Probationary Employee, 8

Professional Development Days, 18

Regular Employee, 8
Regular Rates of Pay, 19
Remuneration, 32
REMUNERATION, 18
Reporting to Work, 16
Rest Periods, 16
Right of Recall, 14
Schedule A. 33

School Term Employee, 8

SENIORITY, 12

Seniority During Absence, 12

Seniority Lists, 13 Severance Pay, 15 Temporary Employee, 8 Termination, 10

Time of Year, 21

Time Off in Lieu of Overtime, 17

Union Membership, 11 Union Notification, 10, 11 Union Security, 11 Vacation with Pay, 20 Wages and Salaries, 18

Wages/Signing of Agreement, 20

Work Jurisdiction, 10